Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-22-2013

Flying "A" Ranch v. Lewies Appellant's Brief Dckt. 40987

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

The Court imposed Rule 11 sanctions on Lewies, *sua sponte*, because the presiding judge found it "unseemly" that Lewies, as a prosecuting attorney – elect for Fremont County, would file petitions for judicial review against the board of county commissioners for Fremont County ("Commissioners"), a known future client. (Transcript, p. 4, lines 23-25; p. 5, lines1-2; p. 5, lines 23-25; p. 6, lines 22-23; p. 9, lines 8-9; and R. 182 at 188.) Although Judge Moeller found no ethical or legal violations (R. 182 at 188), he believed Lewies had filed the petitions because of a "political grudge" against the Commissioners. As the Court itself said to Lewies, "This may sound like a rhetorical question, but it really isn't a rhetorical question. What were you thinking filing these Petitions against Fremont County just weeks after you were elected to be Fremont County Prosecuting Attorney?" (Transcript p. 4, lines 23-25; and p. 5, lines 1-2)

B. Statement of Facts

On November 20, 2012, Lewies was contacted by a private client, Mr. Clen Atchley, owner of Flying "A" Ranch, who requested Lewies' assistance on an urgent legal matter. Mr.

¹ See R.182 at 189, footnote 14, where Judge Moeller writes that, "the Court merely advised [Lewies] to avoid allowing a political grudge (emphasis added) to interfere with his professional judgment."

Atchley explained that the Commissioners had recently adopted an official county road map (the "Map") depicting a private ranch road owned by Atchley, and others, as a Fremont County public road. (R. 65). In reviewing the Map, Lewies discovered that another private road belonging to family friend, Mr. Eugene Gwaltney, III, was also depicted as a Fremont County public road. (R. 65). Atchley and Gwaltney, respectively, requested Lewies file petitions for judicial review to preserve and protect their legal rights; and Lewies agreed to do so, with the caveat that he would have to withdraw from representing Atchley and Gwaltney soon after filing their petitions because he was the prosecuting attorney – elect for Fremont County and would be sworn-in to office as Fremont County's prosecuting attorney in mid-January, 2013 thereby giving rise to an actual conflict of interest on that date. Lewies accepted the limited representation (R. 65) and on November 23, 2012, filed two petitions for judicial review concerning the Map, one for Flying "A" Ranch, et. al. (R. 8) and the other for Gwaltney, et. al. (R. 256). On December 5, 2012, presiding district judge, Gregory W. Moeller, issued his Orders Governing Procedure on Review. (R. 15 and R. 263).

On January 7, 2013, in his final week as deputy prosecuting attorney for Fremont County,² Blake G. Hall, Esq. ("Hall"), filed motions to disqualify Lewies³ (R. 18 and R. 271);

² Blake G. Hall, Esq., was serving his final week as deputy prosecuting attorney for Joette C. Lookabaugh, Esq., the lame-duck Fremont County prosecuting attorney who had recently lost her bid for re-election to Lewies, her political opponent, by a margin of 65% to 35%. As District Judge Gregory W. Moeller, himself, stated, "[A]nd, again, I understand that there's been acts of pettiness between these parties on other matters at other times, but there needs to come a time when that ends and I'm going to do what I can to see that it ends in this case..." (Transcript p. 34, lines 15-19).

Lewies argued that, "I believe that Blake Hall filed his motion to disqualify me for an improper purpose, to harass me." (R.64 at 65, \P 10). As evidence of this, Lewies pointed out to the Court that, "Mr. Hall failed to make any good faith effort to confer or attempt to confer with me" before filing his motions to disqualify. "And Your

and also on that same day, Lewies filed motions to withdraw from representation in both cases. (R. 32 and R. 266). On January 14, 2013, pursuant to a stipulation for substitution of counsel, W. Lynn Hossner, Esq., substituted for Lewies as petitioners' counsel in Case No. CV-12-580. (R. 42). On January 22, 2013, the Court conducted a hearing on Hall's motions to disqualify Lewies and also on Lewies' motions to withdraw. Initially, the Court "allowed Mr. Lewies to withdraw" (Transcript p. 24, lines 12-13); but later reversed itself, instead ruling that it, "bars Mr. Lewies from further representing Petitioners or Respondents" (R. 106, ¶ 1); but then, even later, it its Memorandum Decision took a different and most unusual posture that it had, "effectively grant[ed] both the motion to disqualify and the motion to withdraw." (R. 184). The Court also ordered Lewies to personally pay \$1,185.00 in attorney's fees for Hall's work on the motions to disqualify. (R. 182 at 191).

On January 30, 2013, Hall filed his affidavit of attorney's fees (R. 50) and the next day Lewies filed his objection to attorney's fees. (R. 54). On February 26, 2013, the Court conducted a hearing on its award of attorney's fees. (Transcript, p. 40). On March 29, 2013, the Court issued its Memorandum Decision Re: Rule 11 Sanctions ("Memorandum Decision"). (R. 182). On April 4, 2013, the Court entered its final judgment re: Rule 11 sanctions ("Judgment"). (R. 194). On May 2, 2013, Lewies filed a notice of appeal (R. 200); and on May 13, 2013 Lewies

Honor, this would have saved you all this hassle if [Hall] picked up the phone and said, 'Hey, Karl, looks like you've got a conflict on the horizon there, what are you going to do, are you going to hang onto those private clients and try to play both sides of this game?' I'd say absolutely not. In fact, I've made it clear to my clients on the day I accepted representation I'm going to have to withdraw...If that call had been made, Your Honor, and under the Rule 11 of the Rules of Civil Procedure that sort of a reasonable inquiry is to be made before filing Motions. I mean, you know, you have to inquire...there is a standard for a reasonable inquiry before filing documents, Rule 11." (Transcript p. 61, lines 15-25; p. 64, lines 18-21; and p.65, lines 7-8).

filed an amended notice of appeal in CV-12-580 (R. 236) and a notice of appeal in CV-12-581. (R. 325).

II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. Whether the Court abused its discretion in imposing I.R.C.P. 11(a)(1) sanctions against Lewies based on the following extraneous conduct, rather than a violation of Rule 11's signature certification requirements:
 - (a.) Because Lewies filed the petition for judicial review against a "known future client;"
 - (b.) Because Lewies did not realize that the "Fremont County voters were entitled to expect that the person they had just elected as County prosecutor (i.e. Lewies) would not be filing new legal actions against the County;"
 - (c.) Because, by filing the petition, Lewies "initiated a chain of events that any reasonable attorney should have anticipated would create mistrust and animosity from everyone involved;"
 - (d.) Because of Lewies' "timing" relative to filing the petition;
 - (e.) Because Lewies "delayed in withdrawing as counsel" for petitioners;
 - (f.) Because Lewies "delayed in withdrawing as counsel" for respondents;
 - (g.) Because Lewies "failed to understand that his actions would almost immediately deprive petitioners of legal counsel;
 - (h.) Because "Lewies should have anticipated that his actions would deprive his

future clients, the County and the board of commissioners, of representation;" and

- (i.) Because the court found Lewies' actions "unseemly."
- 2. Whether the petitions for judicial review filed by Lewies in either case number CV-12-580 or CV-12-581 violated the signature certification requirements of I.R.C.P. 11(a)(1)?
- 3. Whether the Court erred in finding that Lewies "had not withdrawn as counsel for the County" insofar as Lewies never represented the County in either case number CV-12-580 or CV-12-581in the first instance?
- 4. Whether the court erred in finding that Lewies' actions "delayed adjudication of the petitions for judicial review?"
- 5. Whether the Court erred by "deeming it appropriate" for the County to have retained private legal counsel, Blake G. Hall, Esq., to represent it in case numbers CV-12-580 and CV-12-581 even though the legal question whether the County's hiring of private counsel in violation of the Idaho Constitution's "necessity requirement" had been voluntarily withdrawn by motion of the Office of the Prosecuting Attorney, and therefore, was not a question presented to the court for its decision?
- 6. Whether the Court erred in finding that Lewies was unable to "complete" his representation of petitioners?
- 7. Whether Judge Gregory W. Moeller demonstrated bias or prejudice against Lewies by engaging in the following actions:
 - (a.) By initiating an ex parte communication with Lewies immediately following the January 22, 2013 court hearing in this matter by inviting Lewies into chambers and

proceeding to warn him, "You have to decide what hill you want to die on." Then, further warning Lewies, "This conversation never happened;"

- (b.) After issuing warnings to Lewies, as described above, then changing his award of attorney's fees to the County based on the prevailing party standard under I.C. § 12-117 into I.R.C.P. 11(a)(1) sanctions against Lewies *sua sponte*;
- (c.) By disregarding Lewies' arguments and allegations of unethical conduct and improper purposes engaged in by the County's counsel, Blake G. Hall, Esq.; and
- (d.) By issuing a publically available Memorandum Decision Regarding Rule 11 Sanctions against Lewies thereby causing damage to Lewies' professional reputation?

III. ARGUMENT

A. Scope of Review on Appeal.

The abuse of discretion standard is used to review the award of sanctions under I.R.C.P. 11(a)(1). Sun Valley Shopping Center, Inc. v. Idaho Power Company, 119 Idaho 87, 803 P.2d 993 (Idaho 1990). The sequence of inquiry is: (1) whether the trial court correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) whether the trial court acted within the outer boundaries of its discretion and consistently with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices available to it; and (3) whether the trial court reached its decision by an exercise of reason. Sun Valley v. Idaho Power, *supra*, (citing State v. Hedger, 115 Idaho 598, 600, 768 P.2d 1331, 1333 (1989)).

Idaho's adoption of amended Rule 11, containing language identical to the Federal Rule, presumably carries with it the interpretation placed upon that language by the federal courts.

<u>Durrant v. Christensen</u>, 117 Idaho 70, 785 P.2d 634 (Idaho 1990). Both amended rules require that pleadings, motions and other papers meet certain criteria, and failure to comply may result in the imposition of sanctions. I.R.C.P. 11, as amended, provides in pertinent part:

(a)(1) Signing of Pleadings, Motions, and Other Papers; Sanctions. Every pleading, motion, and other paper of a party represented by an attorney shall be signed by at least one (1) licensed attorney of record of the state of Idaho, in the attorney's individual name, whose address shall be stated before the same may be filed. A party who is not represented by an attorney shall sign the pleading, motion or other paper and state the party's address. Except when otherwise specifically provided by rule or statute, pleadings need not be verified or accompanied by affidavit. The signature of an attorney or party constitutes a certificate that the attorney or party has read the pleading, motion or other paper; that to the best of the signer's knowledge, information, and belief after reasonable inquiry it is well grounded in fact and is warranted by existing law or a good faith argument for the extension, modification, or reversal of existing law, and that it is not interposed for any improper purpose, such as to harass or to cause unnecessary delay or needless increase in the cost of litigation. (emphasis added) If a pleading, motion or other paper is not signed, it shall be stricken unless it is signed promptly after the omission is called to the attention of the pleader or movant. If a pleading, motion or other paper is signed in violation of this rule, the court, upon motion or upon its own initiative, shall impose upon the person who signed it, a represented party, or both, an appropriate sanction, which may include an order to pay to the other party or parties the amount of the reasonable expenses incurred because of the filing of the pleading, motion, or other paper, including a reasonable attorney's fee.

A trial court's decision to impose sanctions under Rule 11 is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Cooter & Gell v. Hartmarx, 496 U.S. 384, 405, 110 S. Ct. 2447, 110 L.Ed.2d 359 (1990). As to fact findings, the trial court abuses its discretion when its findings are clearly erroneous. <u>Ibid.</u> As to questions of law, the trial court abuses its discretion when it misinterprets or misapplies the law. <u>Id.</u>

Federal court decisions regarding Fed. R. Civ. P. 11 hold that the "bad faith" standard is no longer applicable. Rather, the federal courts apply an objective standard of "reasonableness under the circumstances." <u>Durrant v. Christensen</u>, *supra*, (citations omitted). In <u>Zaldivar v. City of Los Angeles</u>, 780 F.2d 823, 829 (9th Cir. 1986), the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals held that subjective bad faith in not an element to be proved under Rule 11, but sanctions shall be assessed if the pleading is frivolous, legally unreasonable, or without factual foundation. In <u>Eastway Construction Corp. v. City of New York</u>, 762 F.2d 243 (2d Cir.1985) the circuit court of appeals held that "the language of Rule 11 explicitly and unambiguously imposes an affirmative duty on each attorney to conduct a *reasonable inquiry* into the viability of a pleading before it is signed...A showing of subjective bad faith is no longer required to trigger the sanctions imposed by the rule." <u>Durrant</u>, supra, (citing <u>Zaldivar v. City of Los Angeles</u>, 780 F.2d 823, 829 (9th Cir. 1986), and <u>Eastway Construction Corp. v. City of New York</u>, 762 F.2d 243 (2d Cir.1985)).

In light of the federal decisions interpreting language that is identical to that contained in the Idaho version of Rule 11, the Idaho Supreme Court held that reasonableness under the circumstances, and a duty to make a reasonable inquiry prior to filing an action, is the appropriate standard to apply. A showing of subjective bad faith is no longer necessary for the imposition of sanctions. Durrant, *supra*.

B. The Court abused its discretion in imposing I.R.C.P. 11(a)(1) sanctions against Lewies based on extraneous conduct, rather than a violation of Rule 11 signature certification requirements.

The purpose of Rule 11 is to deter baseless filings. CQ Intern. Co. Inc. v. Rochem Intern.

Inc., USA, 659 F.3d 53, 62, (1st Cir. 2011). Rule 11 does not apply to misconduct unrelated to signed motions, pleadings or other papers. See, e.g., Ali v. Tolbert, 636 F.3d 622, 626-27 (D.C. Cir. 2011); Lamboy-Ortiz v. Ortiz Velez, 630 F.3d 228, 245 (1st Cir. 2010) ("[N]o matter how vexatious or disruptive counsel's conduct was during trial, Rule 11 cannot reach such misconduct."); Lawrence v. Richman Group of CT LLC, 620 F.3d 153, 158 (2d Cir. 2010) ("Rule 11 does not...authorize sanctions for merely frustrating conduct."). Rule 11 does not apply to attorney conduct that does not involve the filing or other presentation of a paper to the court. Ibid. It is not an all-purpose tool for regulating party or lawyer conduct. See Lawrence v. Richman Group of CT LLC, supra. Whether a lawyer has satisfied Rule 11 is measured on an objective basis. See Business Guides, Inc. v. Chromatic Communications Enterprises, Inc., 498 U.S. 533, 111 S.Ct. 922, 112 L.Ed. 2d 1140 (1991).

In <u>Sun Valley Shopping Center v. Idaho Power Company</u>, *supra*, citing <u>Durrant v. Christensen</u>, the Idaho Supreme Court noted that in interpreting Rule 11 the federal courts have focused on "an affirmative duty on each attorney to conduct a reasonable inquiry into the viability of a pleading before it is signed." The Idaho Supreme Court held that, "reasonableness under the circumstances, and a duty to make a reasonable inquiry prior to filing an action, is the appropriate standard to apply." <u>Ibid.</u>

In the instant case, the Court provided a litany of reasons (R. 182 at 188) why it imposed Rule 11 sanctions against Lewies, however, as the discussion below reveals, each and every reason

dealt with extraneous conduct,⁴ rather than the actual petitions themselves and whether they comported with the signature certification requirements of Rule 11.

First, the Court reasoned that, "...Lewies' filing of the petitions against a known, future client was a significant offense against the integrity of the judicial system." (R. 182 at 188). Judge Moeller made it very clear that he strongly disagreed (R. 106, ¶ 1) with Lewies' decision to accept representation of private clients and proceed to file petitions for judicial review on their behalf against the Commissioners given that Lewies would be sworn-in as Fremont County prosecuting attorney about two months after filing the petitions, and would therefore, become the legal advisor for the Commissioners. However, even if Judge Moeller disagreed with Lewies' actions, he cited no legal authority whatsoever in his Memorandum Decision that would prohibit Lewies, or any other attorney for that matter, from filing a legal action against a known future client. Certainly, Rule 11 contains no such "known future client" prohibition. By sanctioning Lewies under Rule 11 on such grounds, the Court either misinterpreted or misapplied the law, and by doing so, abused its discretion.

Second, the Court reasoned that, "Fremont County voters were entitled to expect that the

⁴ The extraneous conduct that Judge Moeller concerned himself with centered around his unfounded and highly subjective belief that Lewies' motives for filing the petitions were improper and somehow related to a "political grudge" against the Commissioners. (See, e.g., R. 182 at 189, fn. 14)

⁵ Indeed, at the direction of Judge Moeller, Lewies contacted Idaho State Bar counsel, Brad Andrews, to obtain his opinion on the whether a prosecutor-elect violates the Idaho Rules of Professional Conduct, if he files a lawsuit against the board of county commissioners that he will be representing in the *future*. Mr. Andrews informed Lewies that the "bright-line" test for determining whether a conflict of interest existed was the date on which the prosecutor-elect was officially sworn-in. Mr. Andrews reasoned that, until the prosecutor-elect is sworn-in, he *does not* represent the county commissioners. (*See*, Transcript p. 52, lines 21-25; p. 53, lines 1-21; and p. 54, lines 1-7)

person they had just elected as County prosecutor (i.e. Lewies) would not be filing new legal actions against the County." (R. 182 at 188). However, even if the Court from its vantage point in neighboring Madison County, had special insights into what Fremont County voters were expecting from their prosecutor-elect, and even if Judge Moeller personally and strongly disagreed with Lewies' actions, he cited no legal authority that requires a prosecutor-elect to satisfy voters' expectations (let alone satisfy the Court's own subjective notions of such voter expectations). Certainly, Rule 11 contains no such "voter satisfaction" requirement. By sanctioning Lewies under Rule 11 on such grounds, the Court misinterpreted or misapplied the law, and in doing so, abused its discretion.

Third, the Court reasoned that Lewies, "initiated a chain of events that any reasonable attorney should have anticipated would create mistrust and animosity from everyone involved." (R. 182 at 188). However, even if the Court had been correct that Lewies created "mistrust and animosity from everyone involved" by filing the petitions, it cited no legal authority that obligated Lewies to refrain from creating such subjective emotional states. Certainly, Rule 11 imposes no such "emotionally-based" requirement. By sanctioning Lewies under Rule 11 on such grounds, the Court either misinterpreted or misapplied the law, and by doing so, abused its discretion.

_

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