Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-18-2013

Flying "A" Ranch v. Lewies Respondent's Brief Dckt. 40987

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

ARGUMENT

A. Rule 11 Sanctions are Left to the Sound Discretion of the Court

Lewies erroneously suggests that Rule 11 can only be used where a filing violates the signature requirements of Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 11(a)(1). However, Lewies' reading of Rule 11(a)(1) is misplaced and fails to consider the Idaho Supreme Court's express language allowing Rule 11 to be awarded as a sanction for "misguided filings" and "litigative misconduct."

Rule 11, Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure, provides in relevant part:

Every pleading, motion, and other paper of a party represented by an attorney shall be signed by at least one (1) licensed attorney of record of the state of Idaho, in the attorney's individual name, whose address shall be stated before the same may be filed. A party who is not represented by an attorney shall sign the pleading, motion or other paper and state the party's address. Except when otherwise specifically provided by rule or statute, pleadings need not be verified or accompanied by affidavit. The signature of an attorney or party constitutes a certificate that the attorney or party has read the pleading, motion or other paper; that to the best of the signer's knowledge, information, and belief after reasonable inquiry it is well grounded in fact and is warranted by existing law or a good faith argument for the extension, modification, or reversal of existing law, and that it is not interposed for any improper purpose, such as to harass or to cause unnecessary delay or needless increase in the cost of litigation. If a pleading, motion or other paper is not signed, it shall be stricken unless it is signed

promptly after the omission is called to the attention of the pleader or movant. If a pleading, motion or other paper is signed in violation of this rule, the court, upon motion or upon its own initiative, shall impose upon the person who signed it, a represented party, or both, an appropriate sanction, which may include an order to pay to the other party or parties the amount of the reasonable expenses incurred because of the filing of the pleading, motion, or other paper, including a reasonable attorney's fee.

As explained by the Idaho Supreme Court, "[t]he intent of the rule is to grant courts the power to impose sanctions for discrete pleading abuses or other types of litigative misconduct." Campbell v. Kildew, 141 Idaho 640, 650, 115 P.3d 731, 741 (2005) (emphasis added). Rule 11 is appropriately used as a "management tool to be used by the district court to weed out, punish and deter specific frivolous and other misguided filings." Lester v. Salvino, 141 Idaho 937, 940, 120 P.3d 755, 758 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing Campbell v. Kildew, 141 Idaho 640, 650, 115 P.3d 731, 741 (2005) (emphasis added). A Rule 11 sanction is appropriately imposed where the district court is considering only the "attorney's conduct in the filing of pleadings, motions or other papers." Riggins v. Smith, 126 Idaho 1017, 1021, 895 P.2d 1210, 1214 (1995). Thus, Idaho law is clear that Rule 11 is not simply limited to sanction an attorney who signs a frivolous or unmeritorious pleading. Rather, Rule 11 can permissively be used to

sanction an attorney for "litigative misconduct" or for the filing of "misguided filings."

Initially, Judge Moeller, recognized that the imposition of sanctions was subject to an abuse of discretion standard. (R. 185). Specifically, the district court recognized that it acted within its discretion where it "considers whether it correctly perceived the issue as discretionary, whether it acted within the boundaries of its discretion and consistently with applicable legal standards, and whether it reached its decision by an exercise of reason." *See Lamar Corp. v. City of Twin Falls*, 133 Idaho 36, 40, 981 P.2d 1146, 1150 (1999). (R. 185).

Accordingly, where Judge Moeller recognized the issue of Rule 11 sanctions as discretionary, acted within the boundaries of its discretion and reached a decision through the exercise of reason, the Rule 11 sanction against Lewies should be upheld. In this case, it is clear from the plain language of the Memorandum Decision, and discussed more fully below, that Judge Moeller did not abuse his discretion when imposing Rule 11 sanctions.

The Memorandum Decision meticulously addresses the procedural history that precipitated the lower courts decision to impose Rule 11 sanctions. Guiding the lower court's reasoning behind imposing sanctions on Lewies was the well-

established Idaho law that Rule 11 may be used as a management tool to addressed litigative misconduct and misguided filings.

Lewies focuses on seven phrases from the Memorandum Decision³, that were taken out of context and fail to consider the court's reasoning *in toto*. A reading of the Memorandum Decision where Lewies pulls his specific quotes was crafted with the "totality of the circumstances" of the litigation in mind. (R. 187). While the Court noted his concerns about Lewies conduct, he unequivocally stated in reference to his comments on the advisability of filing the petitions, "such matters are not questions typically answered by this court." (R. 187). Rather, as the court clearly recognized, its sanctioning authority was reviewed "pursuant to its 'court management' role and act using its inherent discretion to ensure that the adjudication is fair to all sides." (R. 187).

The court further recognized that ethical rules were not a consideration in sanctioning Lewies, and the court viewed Lewies conduct in the broad picture of the "integrity of the judicial process." (R. 188). It was with this consideration that the district court found that the integrity of the judicial process (litigative misconduct) was harmed by Lewies failure to identify the significant conflict issues that would inevitable be created by Lewies' filings:

³ The seven quotes focused on are specifically identified in Appellant's Brief between pages 16 and 19.

The Court finds that regardless of the ethical ramifications, Lewies' filings of the petitions against a known, future client was a significant offense against the integrity of the judicial system. Fremont County voters were entitled to expect that the person they had just elected as County prosecutor would not be filing new legal actions against the County on behalf of private individuals. Similarly, the Commissioners had every reason to be concerned when they were sued in both their official and personal capacities by the incoming county attorney. By so doing, Lewies initiated a chain of events that any reasonable attorney should have anticipated would create mistrust and animosity from everyone involved—greatly undermining public confidence in the outcome of both cases.

(R. 188 (emphasis in original)).

Ultimately, the district court correctly concluded "Lewies' decision to sign and file the petitions was clearly misguided and adversely affected the integrity of the judicial process." (R. 188). The district court again noted that it was its duty to "safeguard the integrity of the judicial process" and was the very "type of litigative misconduct Rule 11 was intended to rectify." (R. 188). The district court continued, "Lewies should have known at the time of filing the petitions that he would be unable [sic] to see either case through to completion—this is undisputed. Even if the Petitioners were acting under time constraints, that does not justify Lewies acting in an ethically questionable manner." (R. 188). As such,

the district court appropriately recognized that the filing of the Petitions would instantaneously cause problems for both the Petitioners and the County. The district court was further concerned with Lewies failure to timely file a motion to withdraw that would have allowed the Petitioners to have immediate representation as the matter progressed through the appeals process. Further, any suggestion by Lewies that he completed his representation of Petitioners is devoid of verifiable facts in the record. It is merely supposition and reliance on Lewies representations only that the full representation was limited to filing the Petitions. Rather, the fact that immediate withdrawal was not performed at least causes a question about the actual scope of representation and Lewies ability to appropriately represent the petitioners.

The district court at the January 22, 2013 hearing specifically addressed his concern for the ramifications Lewies conduct would have on the County:

I don't think Mr. Hall should have had to file a Motion in January of 2013 to bring this issue to the Court's attention. I think this should have been brought to the Court's attention earlier by Mr. Lewies himself and even if the Court were to find that the questionable decision to file this after the election wasn't inappropriate, even if I were to agree with Mr. Lewies on that, certainly the Petition should have been followed with an immediate substitution of counsel indicating the new attorneys for the Petitioners were appearing. This puts the County in unfair jeopardy and uncertainty, it put the

Petitioners in a certain level of jeopardy, as well as there was uncertainty about their future representation. Now, granted, this didn't occur during a critical phase of these proceedings because we're still preparing the transcript and the record, but nevertheless, there are strategic decisions that are made in cases like this that require someone to have counsel that can act without conflict and I think Mr. Lewies' actions put everybody in a certain degree of jeopardy. I certainly think Mr. Hall was justified in bringing his Motion when he did in the manner that which you did.

(Tr. 23:13-24:11).

Lewies' reading of Rule 11 is overly simplistic and ignores the explicit requirement that an attorney who signs a pleading, motion, or other paper for an improper purpose. The lower court explicitly detailed the improper purpose and appropriately employed its power to manage its docket. The district court's decision and the underlying rationale for imposing Rule 11 sanctions was within the outer boundaries of its discretion and reached through an exercise of reason. As such, this Court should uphold the district courts imposition of sanctions against Lewies.

B. Lewies Disputed Hall's Continued Representation of the County Which Unnecessarily Prolonged This Litigation and the Cost to the County.

Lewies contends that the Court abused its discretion by suggesting that

Lewies "initially refused to withdraw as counsel for the County." Lewies'

courts understanding of Lewies' representation in the Petitions. In fact, it is clear from the January 22, 2013 hearing transcript that Lewies did not believe the County Commissioners had made the necessary findings to hire Nelson Hall Parry Tucker to represent the County on the Petitions. Lewies specifically stated on the record that he did not believe Nelson Hall Parry Tucker should represent the County:

Well, Your Honor, I'd like to note for the record that I don't believe Mr. Hall is properly here representing Fremont County because the Idaho Constitution required the County Commissioners make a public finding of necessity before retaining their own private counsel.

I've reviewed the Minutes of the County Commissioners. I've had my Deputy, Billie Siddoway, review the Minutes of the County Commissioners and <u>we</u> find no finding of necessity—

(Tr. 16:13-22 (emphasis added)). At the hearing, Lewies continued to maintain that his office could represent the County and he was involved in crafting this argument.

Moreover, it is undisputed that Lewies' continued instance on who could properly represent the County caused a delay in this matter. As a result of Lewies' position, additional briefing was necessary and further hearings were required.

This procedural argument pursued by Lewies undoubtedly caused a delay in the adjudication of the Petitions. As the court noted at the January 22, 2013 hearing, "Now, granted, this didn't occur during a critical phase of these proceedings because we're still preparing the transcript and the record, but nevertheless, there are strategic decisions that are made in cases like this that require someone to have counsel that can act without conflict and I think Mr. Lewies' actions put everybody in a certain degree of jeopardy." (Tr. 24:2-9). There were legitimate concerns that invariably caused the district court concern about who would be representing the County and this had a delay on the proceedings—especially because the briefing schedule had to be adjusted. (R. 142-143).

To suggest that the district court did not understand Lewies' role in representing the County is a liberal restatement of the procedural history in this matter. Moreover, as discussed more fully above, the district court clearly understood Lewies' role and the significant difficulties imposed both on the respondents and the County. It is clear from the record that the district court understood Lewies' role and there was no abuse of his discretion in its findings.

C. Lewies Has Waived Any Argument Challenging the County Retaining Private Legal Counsel.

Lewies continues to argue that the County could not retain private legal counsel. Lewies does not have standing to pursue this issue and further, the Fremont County Deputy Prosecutors Siddoway and Dustin both confirmed that there was no continued challenge by their office of the County's retaining Nelson Hall Parry Tucker as private legal counsel in defending against the Petitions.

It is unclear what Lewies is attempting to argue because his own office has previously conceded that they would be withdrawing this issue. Once directed by the district court to provide information on whether Lewies' office could represent the County given the circumstances of the Petitions, Siddoway filed a *Notice of Conflict of Interest* on February 6, 2013, stating:

I respectfully submit this notice in response to the Court's request for briefing of January 22, 2013. A conflict of interest under Rule 1.7 of the Idaho Rules of Professional Conduct prevents me from taking a position adverse to the decision of the Fremont County Commission to retain outside counsel in this matter. I have provided legal advice to the Fremont County Commission on the matter of retaining outside counsel and, while I do not represent the County in this matter, I consider the County to be a "current client" as that term is used in Rule 1.7.

(R. 72). Subsequently, following a motion to extend the briefing schedule filed by Lewies' office, on February 19, 2013, Lewies' office filed a *Notice of Withdrawal of Motion to Represent Fremont County*. (R. 145-149). The Fremont County Prosecutor's office unequivocally stated with regard to representation of the County as follows: "Upon further review of all aspects of the unique facts peculiar to this particular situation and for the considerations states, the Fremont County Prosecutor's Office withdraws its motion to represent Fremont County in these petitions for judicial review." (R. 149).

Lewies has waived any argument that outside legal counsel's continued representation of the County is inappropriate. In fact, the Court's comment that "deem[ed] it appropriate" for the County to have retained private legal counsel is consistent with the filings by the Fremont County Prosecutor's Office. Finally, the Memorandum Decision was filed well after Lewies' office conceded it could not represent the County on the Petitions. Accordingly, any argument on outside legal counsel's continued representation is irrelevant, moot, and has been waived by Lewies.

- D. There Is No Evidence Of Bias Or Prejudice By Judge Moeller.
 - Lewies Has Waived Any Argument of Bias By Failing to File a
 Motion to Disqualify.

Lewies' suggestion that Judge Moeller was biased and/or prejudiced against Lewies has been waived because Lewies did not file a motion to disqualify Judge Moeller pursuant to Rule 40(d)(2), Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure.

Specifically, Rule 40(d)(2)(A) states that "any party to an action may disqualify a judge or magistrate for cause from presiding in any action upon any of the following grounds: . . . 4. That the judge or magistrate is biased or prejudiced for or against any party or the case in the action." (Emphasis added). Had Lewies legitimately believed Judge Moeller was biased or prejudiced against him, his appropriate remedy was to file a Motion for Disqualification for Cause. Lewies did not pursue this remedy and any claims are now waived.

2. The *Ex Parte* Communication was Appropriate and Does Not Exhibit Bias or Prejudice.

Lewies alleges Judge Moeller was biased and/or prejudiced against him for two reasons (1) there was an ex parte communication, and (2) the award of Rule 11 sanctions was awarded *sua sponte*. However, neither argument is

supported by competent evidence in the record to support Lewies' claim of bias or prejudice.

Lewies argues that the Idaho Code of Judicial Conduct, Cannon 3(B)(7) was violated by Judge Moeller when an *ex parte* communication occurred in chambers following the January 22, 2013 hearing.⁴ Cannon 3(B)(7) states in relevant part as follows:

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